IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONTE HALL,)
Appellant,)))))
vs.)))))
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.)

)

CASE NO.: SC09-2326

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210 Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 254-3758

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 15, 2007, a Lake County grand jury returned a seven-count indictment charging Donte Jermaine Hall, the appellant, with conspiracy to commit armed robbery; armed burglary; robbery with a firearm; two counts of attempted felony murder; and two counts of first-degree murder with a firearm. (I 1-3)

Prior to trial, Appellant filed numerous motions relating to the unconstitutionality of Florida's death penalty sentencing scheme. *See, e.g.,* Motion for Statement of Particulars as to Aggravating Circumstances and to Dismiss the Indictment for Lack of Notice as to Aggravating Circumstances. (I 81-88); Motion to Dismiss Indictment or to Declare that Death is not a Possible Penalty (I 157-59); and Motion to Dismiss Indictment (I 162-78). Most of these motions were, in large part, denied. See, e.g., (IV 734-41)

This case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable T. Michael Johnson in April 2009. Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on all seven counts. (III 409-17)

On April 21, 2009, this cause proceeded to a penalty phase. (XVI 1-200; XVII 201-32) Following deliberations, the jury recommended life imprisonment for the murder of Kison Evans. The jury unanimously found all three aggravating factors on which they were instructed for the murder of Kison Evans. For Evans' murder, the jury was not instructed as to the aggravating factor of especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.¹(III 447-48) The trial court subsequently followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for the murder of Kison Evans.

In contrast, by a vote of eight to four, the jury recommended the death penalty for the murder of Anthony Blunt. The jury unanimously found three aggravating factors (pecuniary gain; prior violent felony conviction; and knowingly creating a great risk of death to many persons). However, the jury was not unanimous in their finding that the murder of Anthony Blunt was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. The trial court instructed the jury on this particular

¹ All parties below, as well as the trial court, agreed that the factor was

aggravator over Appellant's objection. Eleven of the jurors agreed on the fourth aggravating circumstance (HAC). (III 445-46; VI 918)

Following a *Spencer*² hearing, the trial court sentenced Donte Hall to death. In sentencing Appellant to death for the murder of Anthony Blunt, the trial court found the following aggravating factors:

1) Appellant was previous convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence (some weight);

2) Appellant knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons (great weight);

3) The capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain (great weight); and

4) The murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel (great weight).

(III 524-33)

In considering the statutory mitigating factors, the trial court concluded that Appellant's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. The trial court gave this mitigating factor "some weight." (III 533-35) The trial court rejected Appellant's age (22) as a mitigating circumstance. As for non-statutory mitigating factors, the trial court found the following to be applicable:

inapplicable to the murder of Kison Evans.

 Appellant behaved appropriately during the course of the court proceedings (minimal weight);

2) Appellant's family background demonstrated generational alcohol and drug abuse (some weight);

3) There was generational, criminal behavior, in Appellant's family background (some weight);

4) Appellant had few positive role models during his youth (some weight);

5) Appellant grew up in a dangerous neighborhood that reinforced drug use (some weight);

6) Appellant was abused as a child (minimal weight);

7) Appellant lived in many different living arrangements as a child (minimal weight);

8) Appellant suffered from Attention Deficit Disorder and is considered borderline mentally retarded (some weight); and

9) Appellant has an extensive history of drug and alcohol abuse (minimal weight).

(III 536-43) The trial court concluded that the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating factors and sentenced Appellant to death. (III 544-45)

² Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993)

On June 2, 2009, Appellant filed a motion for new trial. (III 480-82) On June 10, 2009, the trial court denied the motion for new trial. (III 285-86; V 927-30) Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on December 11, 2009. (I 606). This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

State's Guilt Phase Case-In-Chief

During June of 2006, Angel Glenn was a nineteen-year-old, single mother living in Orlando. She had previously met Dante Hall, Appellant's twin brother, before she began dating Donte Hall, the appellant, in June 2006. People knew both Appellant, Donte, and Dante by the identical nickname "Twin." Angel was able to distinguish the two twins. Appellant's lower front teeth were gold, whereas Donte's were not. Additionally, Appellant sported a tattoo on his neck that said, "Money ain't a thing." (XI 1150-52) Furthermore, Appellant's voice sounded a little deeper than his brother's.

Angel was unemployed but picked up spare cash by stripping at private parties on the weekends. Angel smoked marijuana daily, took ecstacy on the weekends, and drank alcohol every other day. Angel and Appellant became very close over the next several months. Angel loved Appellant and hoped to marry him one day. (XI 1154-57)

Near the beginning of September 2006, Angel met a man named Jay³ at a club in Orlando. Angel told Jay that she stripped at private parties on the weekends. Jay expressed interest in hiring Angel for a party that weekend in

³ Jay was a nickname used by Willie Shelton. (VIII 595-600)

Eustis, Florida, a town Angel had never visited. She and Jay exchanged phone numbers. (XI 1158-59)

Angel had a Nextel Boost which had a cell phone capacity as well as walkie-talkie capability. Angel usually had the walkie-talkie function set on "speaker", so that other people could hear both sides of the conversation if someone "chirped." (XI 1159-60) As a result, Appellant heard some of the conversations between Angel and Jay about the party. Appellant heard Jay tell Angel that the girls would all make a lot of money.

When Appellant heard about the proposed party, he suggested the possibility of robbing the men. Angel thought it was a good idea and anticipated sharing the loot. With Appellant as her passenger, Angel drove her car to a BP gas station where they got gas. They had been delayed somewhat by a flat tire. (XI 1164-70) Around 10:00 p.m. that night, Angel and Appellant picked up Angel's friend, Nikita, another stripper who was going to the party. The girls, pursuant to Appellant's instructions, dropped him off at an apartment complex near the Florida Citrus Bowl. (XI 1171-73) As Angel dropped off Appellant, she spotted Dante's rental car that Appellant had recently been driving. The trunk of the car was open. Appellant and some other people gathered around the car. Angel knew that, with her cooperation, the group was planning the robbery that night. (XI 1173-78)

7

Angel and Nikita picked up Brittany, another friend and stripper. The trio stopped at McDonald's for a bite to eat and then headed towards Lake County. Angel did not tell the other girls about the planned robbery. (XI 1178-80)

The girls were late for the party. Jay kept "chirping" Angel's phone asking where they were. Meanwhile, Appellant was also chirping Angel to ask her location. Angel eventually noticed headlights of a car following her and concluded that it was Appellant and his confederates. Angel had her Nextel Boost set on private during the drive to Lake County, so the other girls could not hear the other end of her conversations. (XI 1179-82)

Jay eventually directed Angel to a gas station in Lake County. Angel stopped her car in the parking lot, got out, and talked to Jay. Jay instructed her to follow his car down a side road. Jay stopped at a house to pick up something. Incorrectly thinking they were at their destination, Angel got out of her car. When she did, she spotted Dante's rental car which appeared to be following them. After a brief stop at that house, the girls followed Jay to a different house where the party was about to begin. (XI 1179-87) As they were arriving at the house, Angel noticed Dante's rental car again as it drove past the house. (XI 1189-90)

Once inside the house, the three girls went to a back room, got into costume, took ecstasy, smoked pot, and drank alcohol. The start of the party was delayed

8

again due to the lack of music. During the delay, Angel was periodically on the phone with Appellant, giving him details about the number of men, the absence of firearms, and the reason for the delay. (XI 1187-94)

The music finally started and the girls began dancing and removing their clothing. They had only been dancing five or ten minutes, when four masked men burst into the house brandishing guns. Although they wore masks, Angel identified the gunmen as Appellant, his twin brother Dante, Pig, and Shoo-Shoo. Appellant ordered everyone to the floor and demanded that they hand over their valuables. According to Angel, Appellant stated, "Fucking niggers, we're going to make this choppa dance, give us…everything ya got…!". (XI 1194-98) Both Appellant and Shoo-Shoo had large guns similar to an AK-47. (XI 1195-97) When the men did not move quickly enough, the masked assailants fired more shots. That's when the lights went out. The victims began taking off all of their jewelry and handing it over. (XI 1198)

One of the men at the party said that there was a box in a back room of the house. Dante tried to enter the room, but found the door locked. Dante returned to the room, angry that he could not get to the box. (XI 1198-1200) More shots were fired and all hell broke loose. The girls were screaming and the men were yelling. Shortly after the robbery began, it was over. The assailants fled the house. The

girls hurriedly got dressed and stated to flee. Some of the surviving party attendees fled the house. (XII 1214-17) The police and medical help arrived shortly.

Several men who were at the party that night described the robbery and shooting. Willie Shelton, also known as Jay⁴, described how four masked men burst into the house, shortly after the girls started dancing. Willie and his friends complied with the assailants' orders. Apparently without provocation, one of the men began to shoot Joshua Daniel (JD). At that point, Kison Evans asked the men to stop shooting. Kison told them that there was a box of money in the back room. Shelton knew that this was a lie. Shelton believed that Kison was simply trying to buy some time and save their lives. When the search for the box of money proved futile, the assailants became angry and threatened to kill them all. One of the men then shot Kison in the head. (VIII 598-617)

Nikita, one of the strippers, and other men attending the party described the scene as pure bedlam. The party attendees as well as the three strippers were confined to a small Florida room when the shootings occurred. Other than the four assailants, there were approximately ten people in the room. Two of the men were killed and two were seriously injured. At least sixteen shots were fired that night at the house. Once the assailants obtained the victims' jewelry and cash, they quickly

⁴ Shelton corroborated Angel Glenn's testimony about meeting her in a

fled the scene. Many of the survivors who were not seriously wounded also fled. (VIII 572-94; IX 614-19, 660-70, 677-89; X 849-57; XII 1336-41; XIII 1435-50, 1462-81; XIV 1649-1649-74, 1678-91)

In the days following the shootings, Angel talked to Appellant about what happened. Angel wanted to know how the robbery turned into murder. Appellant explained that, sometimes he turned into a "whole other person."(XII 1265-68) Appellant made Angel promise that she would never tell on him. The police had tried to call Angel and, on Appellant's advice, she changed her phone number. (XII 1268-69)

The police ultimately arrested Angel, but she was eventually released on bond. In violation of her probation conditions, Angel communicated with Appellant by telephone, while he was incarcerated in the Orange County jail. (XII 1270-75; State's Exhibit 55) During one of those phone calls, Appellant asked Angel what had happened to her in court. She explained that she had been released on bond with an ankle monitor. Angel chastised appellant for taking his cell phone with him that night. Appellant replied that the Orange County Police Department had his cell phone, not the authorities in Lake County. Near the end of the conversation, Appellant stated that he had no cell phone, with which, Angel

nightclub and setting up the party for the following night. (VIII 595-600)

agreed. (XII 1309-12) At trial, Angel explained that she agreed with Appellant, because she knew the conversation was being recorded.

Angel originally lied to the police about her involvement⁵, and also to the judge about violating her conditions of probation. She eventually reached an agreement with the state to tell the truth. In exchange, the state agreed to drop all of her charges except conspiracy to commit armed robbery, for which she faced up to fifteen years. Prior to that deal, Angel faced up to life in prison. The state also agreed to drop her perjury charge. (XII 1280-83)

At trial Angel identified Appellant as the man who fired first, did most of the talking, and talked about making the "choppa dance." (XII 1284-86) She described the other men's participation as less substantial.

Despite a thorough crime scene investigation, police found no physical evidence at the scene that connected Appellant nor any of his friends to the crime. There were no fingerprints that could be identified as inculpatory. Ballistic tests were also futile.(IX 748-51; X 960-73)

While Appellant was incarcerated prior to trial, he had a conversation with Timothy Evans, Kison Evan's younger brother who was also incarcerated. Appellant approached Evans in jail and asked him to let the victim's mother know

⁵ Police originally focused on Angel after her friend and fellow stripper, Nikita

that, although Appellant was present at the scene, it was his brother Dante, not Appellant, who shot Kison. (XIII 1486-1507)

Norman Mavers, another jailhouse snitch, was housed in the Orange County Jail with Appellant in the summer of 2007. When Appellant learned that Mavers had recently been in circuit court in Lake County, Appellant asked about the jail conditions and court proceedings. Appellant explained that he had a case pending in Lake County involving two first-degree murders and two attempted murders. Appellant explained in some detail about the shootings that night. In doing so, Appellant made admissions that he, as well as his brother, a friend named Pig, and his stripper girlfriend robbed and shot some men in Eustis. (XIII 1508-48)

In addition to the testimony of Angel Glenn, the state's star witness, cellular phone records tended to corroborate Angel's testimony. (VIII 552-65; IX 775-78; X 845, 862-66, 943-49, 952-59; XI 1081-83, 1092-1134; XII 1302-6, 1363-92; XIII 1431-34; State's Exhibit 55) The cellular phones that were used that evening were not the usual type with annual accounts. Rather, they were prepaid cell phones that could be registered under any name and address, authentic or not. April Leaster testified that she registered a cell phone under a fake name and address and gave it to Appellant. This was the phone that she called him on while they were

Jackson, went to the police at the urging of her mother. (X 875-82, 919-28)

dating in the spring of 2006. She admitted that she had no idea who was using the phone after that. (VIII 566-71; X 943-49, 953-55)

Additionally, security video from several locations during the travels of the group that night, indicated that a person, whom Angel identified as the appellant, was in her company. (XII 1275-79; 1288-92; State's Exhibits 41 and 42) Additionally, jewelry identified as belonging to the victims was pawned by Angel Glenn and Kim Jones⁶ at the request of Appellant and his twin brother, Dante. (IX 686-89, 694-95; X 862-66; XI 1039-56; XII 1245-47)

Appellant's Guilt Phase Case-In-Chief

Appellant's mother, Louise Laster, had a distinct recollection that Appellant was at her apartment at the time of the shootings in Eustis. She noticed that he was there from 4:00 in the afternoon and stayed in the building. He did visit one of the neighbors across the hall from his mother's apartment. Appellant's mother had to retrieve him from that apartment when he received a phone call at approximately 8:30 p.m. After the short phone call, Appellant returned to the apartment next door, where a woman who was interested in him resided.⁷ (XIV 1726-30, 1734-

⁶ Kim Jones was Dante's "baby mama". (XI 1025-28)

⁷ The woman was the sister of Appellant's friend who also lived there. Appellant's mother did not approve, because the woman was in her thirties. (XIV 1734-35)

37) He returned to his mother's apartment at approximately 11:00 p.m. His mother commented that he smelled like a brewery, because he had been drinking heavily. Around midnight, she observed him fall asleep on the couch in the living room of her apartment. She then went to her own bedroom and went to sleep. The next morning, she got up, and saw Appellant still sleeping on the couch. He was still wearing the same clothes he had on the night before. (XIV 1737-39) If he had left the apartment that night, his mother, being a light sleeper, would have heard him. (XIV 1738-39)

When news of the shooting in Eustis hit the television on Sunday, Appellant's mother saw the reports. (XIV 1730-31) Several months later, Angel Glenn dropped by to visit Appellant's mother. She was wearing an electronic monitor on her ankle at the time. Without provocation, Angel immediately volunteered that the twins had nothing to do with the murders in Eustis.⁸ (XIV 1733-34) Appellant's niece witnessed Angel's visit and confirmed her grandmother's testimony.⁹ At the time of the conversation, Appellant's niece had not heard about the murders and had no idea what Angel was talking about. (XIV

⁸ During rebuttal, the state established the time frame of Angel's visit to have occurred on or around October 15, 2006. (XIV 1756-57)

⁹ During the state's case-in-chief, Angel had testified that she told Appellant's mother and niece that both Appellant and his twin brother were involved in the

1749-54)

Penalty Phase

Donte, the appellant, and his identical twin brother, Dante, lived with their mother, Louise Laster¹⁰, until they turned eleven months old. Donte's father, James Hall, had no role in Donte's upbringing during that first year. When Donte was almost one, his mother began a relationship with a live-in boyfriend. James Hall, Donte's father, decided that he did not want another man to raise his children, so Donte went to live with his father and grandmother. That lasted until Donte turned five, when he returned to live with his mother. Donte's childhood living arrangements were very unstable, in that he was frequently bounced around from one relative to another. (XVI 129-131, 136)

Donte struggled noticeably when he entered school. Donte's learning disability was first noticed in kindergarten where he was involved in the head start program. Donte initially attended an elementary school for emotionally handicapped children. After testing revealed Donte's attention deficit disorder, school authorities placed him on Ritalin. The medication did not seem to help. (XVI 113, 131-133) School officials transferred Donte to a different school where he was placed in special education classes. (XVI 133-134)

shootings. (XII 1358-60)

Donte's school records revealed that he was in a special education program designed for the educable mentally handicapped. In order to meet the requirements for that type of program, a student must possess intellectual functioning two or more standard deviations below the mean. Statistically, this meant that Donte had an IQ of seventy or below¹¹.(XVI 106-107) Specifically, Donte was two or more standard deviations below the mean which is approximately an IQ of 70 or below, plus or minus what's called a standard area of measurement which is about five points plus or minus. Donte's assessed level of adaptive behavior was below that of other students of the same age and sociocultural group. (XVI 107-108)

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