#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONTE JERMAINE HALL,	
Appellant,	Case No. SC09-2326
v.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	

## ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## **ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #410519
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

Point 1. The State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the murder of Anthony Blunt was heinous, atrocious or cruel. Blunt witnessed a friend shot in the head and die. He was then shot multiple times and bled to death as he begged the police and paramedics not to let him die. The first "911" call was at 2:30 a.m. and Blunt was conscious until he was loaded into the ambulance at approximately 3:04 a.m. During this time he suffered extreme pain and anguish. Error, if any, was harmless where there are three other strong aggravating circumstances, including the contemporaneous murder of Keson Evans and two attempted murders.

The issue regarding the jury instruction was not briefed on appeal and is waived. Even if it were briefed, it has no merit. The State presented evidence of heinous, atrocious, and this Court's case law holds that the jury should be instructed when there is evidence of an aggravating circumstance presented.

<u>Point 2.</u> The sentence of death is proportionate to other death-sentenced defendants. The trial judge found four aggravating circumstances: HAC, prior violent felony, pecuniary gain and great risk of death to many. The aggravators of HAC and prior violent felony are two of the weightiest aggravating circumstances that exist. Hall's argument with the weight given the mitigation is not appropriate. The trial judge followed this Court's instructions and property weighed the aggravating and

mitigating circumstances. The aggravation far outweighs the mitigation, and this compares to other death-sentenced defendants.

Although not raised by Hall, there was sufficient evidence of each crime. There were two eye witnesses – Angel Glenn and Nikita Jackson -- involved with Hall before and after the crimes. Two of the victims survived and were able to recount the robbery and identify items stolen. Additionally, other attendees at the party testified as to the events. Hall and his friends pawned stolen items. The State also presented testimony regarding cell phone calls, videos of Glenn at the gas station meeting Hall after the murder, and the testimony of Jackson's mother to corroborate the testimony of Glenn and Jackson.

**Point 3.** Florida's death penalty statute is not unconstitutional under *Ring v*. *Arizona*. The jury unanimously convicted Hall of several contemporaneous violent felonies. Florida does not require unanimous jury findings on aggravating circumstances.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OF HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, AND CRUEL. THE ISSUE REGARDING THE JURY INSTRUCTION IS WAIVED.

On pages 28-39 of his brief, Hall argues that the trial court improperly applied the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator in sentencing him to death. In the heading of this point and the summary of argument, Hall raises an issue about the jury instruction; however, that issue is not briefed and is waived.

**Finding of HAC.** Whether an aggravating circumstance exists is a factual finding which is reviewed under the competent substantial evidence standard. When reviewing aggravating factors on appeal, this Court in *Alston v. State*, 723 So. 2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998), reiterated the standard of review, noting that it "is not this Court's function to reweigh the evidence to determine whether the State proved each aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt -- that is the trial court's job. Rather, our task on appeal is to review the record to determine whether the trial court applied the right rule of law for each aggravating circumstance and, if so, whether competent substantial evidence supports its finding," quoting *Willacy v. State*, 696 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla.), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 970 (1997).

In finding that the heinousness aggravator was applicable to the murder of

### Anthony Blunt, the trial court said:

The Florida Supreme Court has held that the heinous, atrocious or cruel (hereinafter "HAC") aggravator applies "only in torturous murders-those that evince extreme and outrageous depravity as exemplified either by the desire to inflict a high degree of pain or utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of another." Rose v, State, 787 So, 2d 786, 801 (Fla. 2001) (quoting Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998)). In Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362, 369 (Fla. 2003) the Florida Supreme Court explained that in considering the HAC aggravator, the focus is not on the intent of the assailant, but on the actual suffering caused to the victim. In determining whether the HAC factor was present, the focus should be upon the victim's perceptions of the circumstances as opposed to those of the perpetrator. See Farina v. State, 801 So. 2d 44, 53 (Fla. 2001) (citation omitted); *James v. State*, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1235 (Fla. 1997) ("fear, emotional strain, and terror of the victim during the events leading up to the murder may make an otherwise quick death especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.") (citations omitted); Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988) ("the victim's mental state may be evaluated for purposes of such determination in accordance with the common-sense inference from the circumstances.") (citations omitted).

The Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly disapproved HAC for gunshot murders that were unaccompanied by other circumstances showing that the killing was conscienceless or pitiless and unnecessarily torturous to the victim, i.e., committed in a manner exhibiting utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of another. See, e.g., Diaz v. State, 860 So. 2d 960, 967 (Fla. 2003) (determining that competent, substantial evidence did not support a HAC finding for murder carried out quickly and without intent to inflict a high degree of pain or otherwise torture the victim); Rimmer v. State, 825 So. 2d 304, 328-29 (Fla. 2002) (evidence did not support HAC where the record did not reveal that the defendant tortured the victims or subjected them to pain and suffering); Ferrell v. State, 686 So, 2d 1324, 1330 (Fla. 1996) ("Execution-style killings are not generally HAC unless the state has presented other evidence to show some physical or mental torture of the victim,"); Robinson v. State, 574 So. 2d 108, 112 (Flag 1991) (holding that the trial court erred in finding HAC because the fatal shot to the victim "was not accompanied by additional acts setting it

apart from the norm of capital felonies, and there was no evidence that it was committed 'to cause the victim unnecessary and prolonged suffering") (citation omitted). The Florida Supreme Court has stated that "a murder by shooting, when it is ordinary in the sense that it is not set apart from the norm of premeditated murders, is as a matter of law not heinous, atrocious, or cruel." *Lewis v. State*, 398 So. 2d 432, 438 (Fla. 1981).

In his Sentencing Memorandum, the Defendant argues that this aggravator posed the only difference between the jury's life recommendation for Keson Evans' death and the jury's death recommendation for the killing of Mr. Blunt. The Court notes that according to the medical examiner, Mr. Evans may not have died immediately due to the gunshot wound to the head, but for sure it rendered him unconscious. The Defendant also argues that the State failed to meet its burden because there is no evidence suggesting that this murder meets the statutory requirements of the HAC definition. Moreover, the Defendant contends that there is no evidence that the actual commission of the murder was accompanied by such additional acts as to set the crime apart for the norm of capital felonies. In addition, the Defendant maintains that there is a complete lack of evidence that he intended that the victim suffer a torturous death by exhibiting a desire to inflict a high degree of pain or an utter indifference to or enjoyment of Mr. Blunt's suffering. He contends that the fact that Mr. Blunt made statements indicating that he was aware that he might die or that there were multiple gunshot wounds cannot establish that the Defendant intended to cause the victim unnecessary and prolonged suffering.

This Court respectfully disagrees and concludes that the circumstances surrounding Mr. Blunt's death support a finding of the HAC aggravator. Although no testimony conclusively established that bullets from the Defendant's AK-47 were recovered from Mr. Blunt's body, the evidence overwhelming established the Defendant's significant role in the crimes committed. Nikita Jackson testified that the Defendant was the first to fire his weapon, Willie Shelton testified that the man with the AK-47, i.e., the Defendant, was the one giving the orders to the other robbers. Jimmie Lee Rucker testified that the man with the AK-47 was the first to shoot JD. Angel Glenn testified that the Defendant was the first robber to enter

the home. She testified that he threatened the people by telling them "... we're going to make this choppa [gun] dance. .." Thus, this Court concludes that: (1) the Defendant was present at the scene of the crimes; (2) he was intimately involved in committing the crimes; (3) he exercised the primary leadership role; (4) he was the primary planner FN13; (5) he was far more than an equal participant; and (6) he fired his weapon at least four times. This Court notes that this is not like the situation in *Omelus v. State*, 584 So, 2d 563 (Fla. 1991) or in *Williams v. State*, 622 So. 2d 456 (Fla. 1993) where the defendant was not present and did not know how the murder would be accomplished. Like the defendant in *Cave v. State*, 727 So. 2d 227 (Fla. 1999), the Defendant was a "ringleader" if not the "ringleader".

FN13. The evidence demonstrated that the idea of the robbery originated with the Defendant, he recruited participants other than Ms. Glenn, and he developed and carried out the strategy.

This Court must next consider whether the facts of this murder support the finding of HAC. Dr, Christina Roberts, the medical examiner who performed an autopsy on Anthony Blunt, testified that Mr. Blunt had a number of wounds. The first wound entered his chest and severed his inferior vena cava, a major blood vessel. The second wound was in his right thigh, and the third wound was to his left hand. Dr. Roberts testified that none of the wounds would have rendered Mr. Blunt unconscious immediately. She also testified that Mr. Blunt would have suffered significant pain as a result of each of his wounds.

Willie Shelton testified that after Mr. Blunt was shot, he heard him yell many times "Please, please, please help me, please help me." Mr. Blunt also said "Please don't take me, someone help me." George Davis, a Lake County EMS, testified that the victim was conscious when he arrived on the scene. He was moaning and groaning and suffering from shortness of breath. Jerry Andrews, a Lake County EMS, testified that he could tell immediately that Mr. Blunt was critical and exhibited heavy breathing and sweating. Andrews testified that he would classify Mr. Blunt as being in serious distress. He stated that it was hard to understand everything he was saying but he did ask him to help and told him that he was hurting. When asked, Mr. Blunt told the paramedic that he hurt mainly in his

chest.

This Court finds that the evidence supports the conclusion that the Defendant's actions demonstrated a marked indifference to the suffering of Mr. Blunt. In determining whether this aggravator applies, Mr. Blunt's perceptions are the controlling criteria, The evidence clearly established that the victim suffered extreme physical pain as well as severe emotional distress because of his wounds. Clearly, Mr. Blunt was aware that he might die as a result of his wounds; It is not unreasonable to conclude that he knew he was dying. He likewise was aware that others were shot, thus heightening his terror of the potential result. This Court finds that the State proved this aggravator beyond a reasonable doubt and accords it great weight.

(V3, R529-533). These findings are supported by competent substantial evidence.

Hall argues that a finding of HAC is not appropriate in "gunshot murders". (Initial brief at 33). A HAC finding is proper even if the victim is killed by a single gunshot wound if the entire sequence of events demonstrated that the victim suffered substantial mental anguish, *Henyard v. State*, 689 So. 2d 239, 254 (Fla. 1996), and the victim's fear and emotional strain may be considered as contributing to the heinous nature of the murder even when the victim's death was almost instantaneous. The heinousness aggravator is also supported by this Court's decisions in *Farina v. State*, 801 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 2001), *Wyatt v. State*, 641 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1994), and *Hannon v. State*, 638 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1994). Those cases, like this one, were gunshot murders which were preceded by a period of time in which the victim was terrorized before being murdered and aware of impending death. It takes no imagination to recognize the

terror that Anthony Blunt endured during the last 10 minutes of his life -- those circumstances establish the heinousness aggravator beyond any doubt at all.

Hall argues that he did not intend for Blunt to suffer. (Initial brief at 36). There is no "intent" component required for a finding of HAC. In *Guzman v. State*, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1160 (Fla. 1998), this Court held:

The intention of the killer to inflict pain on the victim is not a necessary element of the [HAC] aggravator. As previously noted, the HAC aggravator may be applied to torturous murders where the killer was utterly indifferent to the suffering of another.

see also Ocha v. State, 826 So. 2d 956, 963-964 (Fla. 2002); Bowles v. State, 804 So. 2d 1173, 1177 (Fla. 2001) (stating that "there is no necessary intent element to HAC aggravating circumstance"); Hitchcock v. State, 755 So. 2d 638, 644 (Fla. 2000) (same). It is not the killer's intent, but the actual suffering of the victim. In Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362, 369 (Fla. 2003), this Court reiterated that, when analyzing the heinous, atrocious aggravator, the focus is not on the intent of the assailant, but on the actual suffering caused the victim. In determining whether the HAC factor was present, the focus should be upon the victim's perceptions of the circumstances as opposed to those of the perpetrator. See Farina v. State, 801 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 2001); see also Hitchcock v. State, 578 So. 2d 685, 692 (Fla. 1990). Further, "the victim's mental state may be evaluated for purposes of such determination in accordance with a commonsense inference from the circumstances." Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270, 277 (Fla.

1988); see also Chavez v. State, 832 So. 2d 730, 765-66 (Fla. 2002). The HAC aggravating factor focuses on the means and manner in which the death is inflicted and the immediate circumstances surrounding the death, rather than the intent and motivation of a defendant, where a victim experiences the torturous anxiety and fear of impending death. See Barnhill v. State, 834 So. 2d 836, 849-850 (Fla. 2002); Brown v. State, 721 So. 2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1998).

This Court recently addressed a similar case in which the defendant made the same arguments:

The focus of the HAC aggravator centers on the means and manner in which the death is inflicted upon the victim and the victim's perceptions of the surrounding circumstances. *See Victorino*, 23 So.3d at 104; *Schoenwetter v. State*, 931 So. 2d 857, 874 (Fla.2006). The aggravator is applicable where the murder is "both conscienceless or pitiless and unnecessarily torturous to the victim ." *Victorino*, 23 So.3d at 104 (emphasis omitted) (*quoting Richardson v. State*, 604 So. 2d 1107, 1109 (Fla.1992)). The HAC aggravator is "proper only in torturous murdersthose that evince extreme and outrageous depravity as exemplified either by the desire to inflict a high degree of pain or utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of another." *Rimmer v. State*, 825 So. 2d 304, 329 (Fla.2002) (emphasis omitted) (*quoting Shere v. State*, 579 So. 2d 86, 95 (Fla.1991)).

McGirth contends that the fact that there were multiple gunshot wounds inflicted upon Diana and that Diana begged for her life is insufficient to support a HAC finding absent evidence that McGirth intended to cause the victim unnecessary and prolonged suffering. However, as the State correctly notes, the killer's intention to inflict pain on the victim is not a necessary element of HAC. *Ocha v. State*, 826 So. 2d 956, 963-64 (Fla.2002). The killer need not intend to inflict torture where the victim is killed in a torturous manner because "the very torturous manner of the

victim's death is evidence of a defendant's indifference." *Victorino*, 23 So.3d at 104 (*quoting Barnhill v. State*, 834 So. 2d 836, 849-50 (Fla.2002)); *see also Schoenwetter*, 931 So. 2d at 874 (noting that the focus on the HAC analysis is not on the intent of the killer but rather on the victim's actual suffering).

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